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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02191 
CASE NAME: BERMAN VS KACKLEY 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: HEARING ON APPL OF WRIT OF POSSESSION 
SET BY COURT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued per stipulation to April 21, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00661 
CASE NAME: AMAN KHAN VS C&A CONTAINERS TR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER TO APPEAR AT DEPOSITION FILED BY 
AMAN KHAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s motion to compel Luis Perez to appear at deposition is denied. There is no proof of 
service on this motion let alone proof of service that either defendant has ever been served in 
this action.  
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00971 
CASE NAME: SONG;SONG-PAULY VS SAGHAFI;KAV 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The minor’s compromise is approved. The court will sign the order provided. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01265 
CASE NAME: SHAPELL VS REGREEN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE 1ST AMND CRS-COMPLAINT FILED BY 
SHAPELL NORCAL RENTAL PROPERTIES LLC, SHAPELL DEER CREEK LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Taken off calendar by moving party.  
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02107 
CASE NAME: CLARK VS. U.S. BANK TRUST 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR DEMURRER FILED BY U.S. BANK TRUST, 
N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR LSF9 , CALIBER HOME LOANS, INC., SUMMIT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This is wrongful foreclosure case. Before the Court is Defendant Caliber Home Loans, Inc., 

Summit Management Company, LLC, and U.S. Bank Trust, N.A., as trustee for LSF9 Master 

Participation Trust (collectively, “Defendants”)’s Demurrer. The Demurrer relates to Plaintiff Alan 

Clark’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) for (1) negligent misrepresentation; (2) constructive 

fraud; (3) cancellation of instruments (Civ. Code § 3412); (4) violation of Business and 

Professions Code § 17200 et seq.; (5) violation of Civil Code § 2924(a)(6) & 2924(f); (6) 

declaratory relief; (7) violation of civil code § 2923.5 & § 2923.55; (8) violation of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act (15 U.S.C. § 1692(6); and (9) punitive damages. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant requests judicial notice of several pleadings, an order, and judgment in unlawful 
detainer case MS19-0117. The unopposed request for judicial notice is granted. (Evid. Code 
§§ 452, 453.) 

Legal Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” 
(Holiday Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420.) A complaint “is 
sufficient if it alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 
42 Cal.4th 531, 550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case 
“with reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the 
nature, source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. (Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., 
Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099.) Legal conclusions are 
insufficient. (Id. at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5.) The Court “assume[s] the truth of the 
allegations in the complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or 
conclusions of law.” (California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 
247.) 

Facts and Procedural Background 

On or about June 29, 2006, Plaintiff took out a $666,000 loan with Washington Mutual Bank FA. 
(FAC ¶ 8.) The loan was secured by the Property at 1190 Turtle Rock Lane, Concord, CA 
94521. (FAC ¶ 8, Ex. A.) Plaintiff alleges several subsequent defective assignments and 
substitutions of trustee. (See FAC at ¶¶ 12-17.) On July 26, 2018 a Notice of Default was 
recorded. (FAC Ex. H.) A Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded on October 24, 2018 (FAC Ex. 
I.) Ultimately the Property was sold to Defendant beneficiary LSF9 Trust at a trustee’s sale. 
(FAC Ex. J.) Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants failed to give the notices required during the 
non-judicial foreclosure process (FAC ¶ 10), that LSF9 was not authorized to foreclose (FAC 
¶ 15), that LSF9 lacked authority to make Summit the foreclosure trustee (FAC ¶ 17), and that 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   03/17/21 

 
 

- 3 - 

the Notice of Trustee’s Sale and Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale were invalid as a consequence 
(FAC ¶¶ 16-22.) 

In February 2019, LSF9 Trust initiated an unlawful detainer action against Plaintiff. (RJN Ex. A.) 
Plaintiff answered (RJN Ex. B) and LSF9 Trust moved for summary judgment on the grounds 
that it was the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and that the foreclosure proceedings complied 
with Civil Code §§ 2924 et seq. (RJN Ex. C at 5.) The unopposed summary judgment motion 
was granted. (RJN Ex. D.) Judgment was entered in LSF9 Trust’s favor and against plaintiff on 
September 27, 2019. (RJN Ex. E.)  

Two weeks later, Plaintiff filed the instant lawsuit. 

Analysis 

Res Judicata 

“Under the doctrine of res judicata [claim preclusion], ‘all claims based on the same cause of 
action must be decided in a single suit; if not brought initially, they may not be raised at a later 
date.’ [Citation.] [¶] A claim raised in a second suit is ‘based on the same cause of action’ as 
one asserted in a prior action if they are both premised on the same ‘primary right.’ [Citation.] 
‘The plaintiff's primary right is the right to be free from a particular injury, regardless of the legal 
theory on which liability for the injury is based. [Citation.]’” (Gillies v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A. (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 907, 914.) 

In Gillies a homeowner brought four successive actions against the same lender, each seeking 
to prevent the lender from foreclosing in connection with the same loan, though on different 
theories. (Id. at pp. 910-911.) The appellate court held that “each sought to vindicate the same 
primary right.” (Id. at p. 910; see also id. at p. 914.) 

A cause of action is delimited by the “primary right” theory, in which a plaintiff’s primary right is 
determined by the harm suffered, regardless of the number of legal theories asserted. Craig v. 
County of Los Angeles (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1294, 1301; Wulfjen v. Dolton (1944) 24 Cal.2d 
891, 894. The primary right theory is a theory of code pleading that has long been followed in 
California and provides that a cause of action is comprised of a “primary right” of the plaintiff, a 
corresponding “primary duty” of the defendant, and a wrongful act by the defendant constituting 
a breach of that duty. (Lincoln Property Company v. The Travelers Indemnity Company (2006) 
137 Cal.App.4th 905, 912.) The primary right is simply the plaintiff’s right to be free from the 
particular injury suffered. (Ibid.) It must therefore be distinguished from the legal theory on which 
liability for that injury is premised, even where there are multiple legal theories upon which 
recovery might be predicated, one injury gives rise to only one claim for relief. (Ibid.) The 
primary right must also be distinguished from the remedy sought. The violation of one primary 
right constitutes a single cause of action, although it may entitle the injured party to various 
remedies. (Ibid.) In sum, there is only a single cause of action for the invasion of one primary 
right, even if multiple theories of recovery are asserted. (Citizens for Open Access Etc. Tide, Inc. 
v. Seadrift Assn. (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 1053, 1067.) 

Res judicata applies if (1) the decision in the prior proceeding is final and on the merits; (2) the 
present proceeding is on the same cause of action as the prior proceeding; and (3) the parties in 
the present proceeding or parties in privity with them were parties to the prior proceeding. 
(Federation of Hillside & Canyon Assns., supra, 126 Cal.App.4th at 1202.) 
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Here, the gravamen of Plaintiff’s complaint is that the subsequent transfers and assignments of 
the 2006 Deed of Trust were without authority and no party has the right to foreclose on the 
subject property. (FAC ¶¶ 16-22.) However, the propriety of the foreclosure sale has been 
adjudicated in the unlawful detainer action filed against Plaintiff. (RJN Exs C, D, E.) 

All the elements of res judicata are met with respect to Plaintiff’s allegations. The decisions in 
the unlawful detainer action were final and on the merits, the causes of action in the prior 
proceeding are based on the same primary right as in this proceeding, and the parties were 
identical (US. Bank and Alan Clark). Plaintiff’s opposition is silent with respect to Defendants’ 
res judicata argument.  

As a consequence, the Court sustains the Demurrer, without leave to amend. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02527 
CASE NAME: WILD IDOL VS. PINKOWSKI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SET ASIDE DEFAULT FILED BY ANDRES RAMEN 
RAMIREZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a motion to set aside the default of defendant Andres Ramen Ramirez, 
named in the lawsuit as Ramen Ramirez, which was entered on November 12, 2020. For the 
reasons set forth, the hearing on the motion is continued to 9:00 a.m. on April 7, 2021. If 
defendant Mr. Ramirez intends to seek to vacate the default and defend the action, then on or 
before March 24, 2021, defendant Mr. Ramirez shall file a supplemental declaration in support 
of the motion accompanied by his proposed answer to the complaint and serve the 
supplemental papers on counsel for Plaintiff with notice of the continued hearing.  

Factual Summary 

Plaintiff filed the complaint initiating this action in December 2019, alleging claims for 
conversion, breach of fiduciary duty and unjust enrichment on an alleged theft of $7,000 from 
plaintiff Wild Idol, LLC. Defendants were each served with the complaint on December 14, 2019. 
Neither defendant has responded to the complaint; their defaults were entered by the Court on 
November 12, 2020.  

Counsel for defendant Mr. Ramirez contacted Plaintiff's counsel in April 2020 to address a 
resolution of the case. (Van de Poel Decl. ¶ 4, p. 1, l. 27- p. 2, l. 4 and Exh. A.) On May 13, 
2020, Plaintiff's counsel sent a letter to Mr. Ramirez's counsel advising of his intent to enter Mr. 
Ramirez's default if he did not respond to the complaint or resolve the claim. (Van de Poel Decl. 
Exh. B.) Mr. Ramirez's counsel contends he was unaware of and did not see the May 13, 2020 
letter and email until late November 2020 after his client's default was entered. (Van De Poel 
Decl. ¶¶ 5 and 6, p. 2, ll. 5 –18.)  

Mr. Ramirez filed his motion to set aside the default based on attorney fault under Code of Civil 
Procedure § 473(b) on January 12, 2021. On January 14, 2021, Plaintiff filed an opposition to 
the motion.  

Standards and Policy Governing Relief from Default 
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Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b) includes both a mandatory and discretionary provision. Mr. 
Ramirez moves under both provisions.  

The mandatory provision requires that (1) a copy of the answer or other pleading proposed to be 
filed accompany the motion; (2) the motion be made within no more than six months after entry 
of the default, judgment, order or "proceeding" from which relief is sought; (3) the motion be 
supported by an attorney affidavit of fault; and (4) the affidavit of fault demonstrate entry of the 
default or judgment was caused by the attorney's fault. (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b); Hernandez v. 
FCA US LLC (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 329, 337.) The Clerk's entry of default is considered a 
proceeding and is the date from which the six-month deadline is measured. (Garcia v. Gallo 
(1959) 176 Cal.App.2d 658, 669 ["courts have interpreted the clerk's entry of default as a 
"proceeding" taken against the party, which marks the beginning of the period, even though the 
judgment on the default is not entered until later."]) (See also Weiss v. Blumencranc (1976) 61 
Cal.App.3d 536, 541 [citing the date of entry of the default by the clerk as the date the six-month 
period begins to run under Code of Civil Procedure § 473].) 

The discretionary provision grants the Court discretion to relieve a party or his counsel from a 
default taken against the party "through his or her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 
neglect." (Code Civ. Proc. § 473(b).) The requirement that the answer or other pleading the 
defaulted party proposes to file accompany the motion also applies when relief is sought under 
the discretionary provision. (Id.) 

The Motion Does Not Attach the Proposed Answer 

The motion was filed timely within approximately two months after entry of the default 
(November 12, 2020). The mandatory relief statute expressly contemplates relief being granted 
even if the attorney's mistake or neglect is considered inexcusable. (Gee v. Greyhound Lines, 
Inc. (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 477, 492; Pagnini v. Union Bank (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 298, 302.) If 
the requirements of the mandatory provision are met, the Court must grant relief. (Gee v. 
Greyhound Lines, Inc., supra, 6 Cal.App.5th at 484; Pagnini v. Union Bank, supra, at 302-303.)  

The motion is deficient, however, under both the mandatory and discretionary provisions 
because it is not accompanied by a proposed answer or other pleading Mr. Ramirez proposes to 
file if his default is set aside. Though courts have found "substantial" compliance with the statute 
is sufficient to support relief given its remedial purposes, courts have required the defective 
motion to be corrected and the proposed answer or other pleading submitted to the Court for 
review and served on counsel for the Plaintiff prior to the initial or continued hearing on the 
motion in order for relief to be granted. (County of Los Angeles v. Lewis (1918) 179 Cal.398, 
400; County of Stanislaus v. Johnson (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 832, 837-838.) 

The Court also has due process concerns because the file does not show an amended notice of 
motion or other notice that the hearing date on the motion was served on Plaintiff's counsel. 
Therefore, if Mr. Ramirez intends to pursue his motion to set aside the default, he must 
supplement the motion with the proposed answer and serve Plaintiff's counsel with the 
supplemental pleading and notice of the continued hearing. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00321 
CASE NAME: WEST VS SHIELDS NURSING CENTER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLTF'S FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLT FILED BY WILLIE SHIELDS JR , SHIELDS NURSING CENTERS, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Continued to April 14, 2021 by the Moving Party.  

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00321 
CASE NAME: WEST VS SHIELDS NURSING CENTER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of ROBERTS FILED BY 
SHIELDS NURSING CENTERS, INC., WILLIE SHIELDS JR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Continued to April 14, 2021 by the Moving Party. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00555 
CASE NAME: HANCOCK VS PROGRESSIVE DIRECT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER DECLARING ANNE HANCOCK A 
VEXATIOUS LITIGANT FILED BY PROGRESSIVE SELECT INSURANCE COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a motion to declare Plaintiff Anne Hancock (“Plaintiff” or “Hancock”) a 
vexatious litigant and requiring her to furnish security. Defendant Progressive Select Insurance 
Company (“Defendant” or “Progressive”) brings the motion pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 
§ 391 et seq. Plaintiff filed a Response on January 22, 2021.  
 
For the following reasons, the motion to furnish a security is granted. Plaintiff is ordered to 
furnish a security in the amount of $7,000.00 by April 2, 2021, three weeks before the trial date 
of April 23, 2021. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant requests Judicial Notice of several pleadings and other documents from this case as 
well as the docket of case no. C20-00274. The Request is unopposed. The request is granted. 
Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Vexatious Litigant Statute 

“The vexatious litigant statute (§§ 391–391.7) was enacted in 1963 to curb misuse of the court 
system by those acting in propria persona who repeatedly relitigate the same issues. Their 
abuse of the system not only wastes court time and resources but also prejudices other parties 
waiting their turn before the courts. [Citations.] [¶] The statute defines a ‘vexatious litigant,’ 
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provides a procedure in pending litigation for declaring a person a vexatious litigant, and 
establishes procedural strictures that can be imposed on vexatious litigants. A vexatious litigant 
may be required to furnish security before proceeding with the pending litigation; if that security 
is not furnished, the litigation must be dismissed. (§§ 391.3, 391.4.)” (In re Bittaker (1997) 55 
Cal.App.4th 1004, 1008.) 

Section 391.1 permits a defendant to move for an order requiring a plaintiff to post security. 
Section 391.1 reads: 

In any litigation pending in any court of this state, at any time until final judgment 
is entered, a defendant may move the court, upon notice and hearing, for an 
order requiring the plaintiff to furnish security or for an order dismissing the 
litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 391.3. The motion for an order 
requiring the plaintiff to furnish security shall be based upon the ground, and 
supported by a showing, that the plaintiff is a vexatious litigant and that there is 
not a reasonable probability that he or she will prevail in the litigation against the 
moving defendant. 

(Code Civ. Proc. § 391.1.) 

Under section 391.3, if the court determines that the plaintiff is a vexatious litigant and has no 
reasonable probability of prevailing, it shall require the plaintiff to post security. Section 391.3 
reads in part: 

If, after hearing the evidence upon the motion, the court determines that the 
plaintiff is a vexatious litigant and that there is no reasonable probability that the 
plaintiff will prevail in the litigation against the moving defendant, the court shall 
order the plaintiff to furnish, for the benefit of the moving defendant, security in 
such amount and within such time as the court shall fix. 

(Code Civ. Proc. § 391.3.) 

Section 391, subdivision (c), defines “security” as follows: “‘Security’ means an undertaking to 
assure payment, to the party for whose benefit the undertaking is required to be furnished, of 
the party’s reasonable expenses, including attorney’s fees and not limited to taxable costs, 
incurred in or in connection with a litigation instituted, caused to be instituted, or maintained or 
caused to be maintained by a vexatious litigant.”  

Analysis 

As a threshold issue, Plaintiff has already been declared a vexatious litigant. (RJN. Ex. 5.) She 
appears on the vexatious litigant list. (See https://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/vexlit.pdf.) 

In the instant lawsuit, Plaintiff has filed a breach of contract claim against Defendant Progressive 
based on her allegation that it cancelled her automobile policy for no legitimate reason. (See 
Complaint.) During the course of this litigation, she has engaged in repeated frivolous tactics: 
she has threatened to report counsel for Progressive to the Attorney General and the State Bar 
of California (Johns Decl. at ¶ 3); she has repeatedly contacted Progressive and its employees 
directly and threatened to report them to law enforcement (id. at ¶¶ 7, 9); and she has visited 
one of Progressive’s physical offices to criticize, harass, and threaten Progressive and its 
employees (id. at ¶ 12.) 

Plaintiff has also attempted to file several unmeritorious motions in this case including: a motion 

https://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/vexlit.pdf
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for settlement (RJN Ex. 2), a request for court judgment (RJN Ex. 3), and an ex parte motion 
and order for judgment (RJN Ex. 4.).  

With respect to substantively prosecuting this action, however, Plaintiff has not served 
Progressive with any discovery nor has she noticed the deposition of any employee of 
Progressive. (Johns Decl. at ¶ 16.) Instead she has demanded that Progressive settle her 
lawsuit for amounts of money that continue to increase over time. (Id. at ¶ 15.) 

Defendant has introduced evidence that it terminated Plaintiff’s policy after an investigation 
which suggested Plaintiff may have been acting as an unauthorized broker of insurance policies. 
(Johns Decl. at ¶¶ 24-27.) Additionally, Defendant introduced evidence that it only terminated 
Plaintiff’s policy after several attempts to contact her by mail and email. (Id. at ¶¶ 28, 29.) 

Plaintiff has not responded to Defendants substantive arguments or evidentiary showing; 
instead, she filed a two paragraph response arguing that she should not be required to furnish 
security “when it was Defendants who have caused the lawsuit against them.” This argument is 
not responsive to the showing made by Defendants.  

There is not a reasonable probability that Plaintiff will prevail on the merits. While Progressive 
acknowledges that it issued an auto policy to Plaintiff (Johns Decl. at ¶ 23), it has introduced 
evidence that it terminated that policy after a determination that Plaintiff may have been acting 
as an unauthorized broker of insurance policies (id. at ¶ 27) and after giving Plaintiff an 
opportunity to contact Progressive and avoid cancellation of her policy (id. ¶ 28.). Plaintiff’s 
responsive document does not address this evidentiary showing. The only evidence before the 
Court is that Progressive terminated Plaintiff’s insurance policy after an investigation and 
opportunity for Plaintiff to respond. Plaintiff has not introduced any evidence to substantiate her 
breach of contract claim. 

As a consequence, the Court grants the motion to require Plaintiff to furnish security in the 
amount of $7,000.00 by April 2, 2021. 

 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01671 
CASE NAME: TSAI VS CAPITAL EQUITES MANAGE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL ARBITRATION FILED BY WORLD 
INSPECTION NETWORK OF SAN RAMON, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant World Inspection Network of San Ramon, Inc.’s Motion to Compel Arbitration is 
granted. 
 
Background 
 
 On or about August 2, 2019, Plaintiff Eric Tsai entered into an agreement with Defendant 
Capital Equities Management Group, Inc. to purchase a single-family residence located at 30 
Vernal Court in Alamo, California.    
 
  On or about August 9, 2019, prior to close of escrow, Plaintiff retained Defendant WIN 
Home Inspection of San Ramon to conduct a property inspection and to provide a home 
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inspection report.  Plaintiff alleges Defendant failed to adequately discover and advise of the 
magnitude and problems created by the extent of water underneath the house.   
 
Motion 
 
 Pursuant to CCP §§ 1281.2 and 1281.4, Defendant WIN Home Inspection brings this 
motion to compel arbitration on the grounds that Plaintiff and WIN Home Inspection have a valid 
written agreement to arbitrate the disputes described in Plaintiff’s complaint. As the causes of 
action against WIN Home arises from its inspection of the property, WIN Home seeks to have 
the dispute submitted to binding arbitration and WIN Home severed from the complaint. 
 
   Plaintiff opposes the motion on several grounds: (1) there is no binding arbitration 
agreement between the parties; (2) Defendant has taken advantage of the Court proceedings 
and waived the right to arbitration; and (3) severing WIN from the court action could result in 
inconsistent rulings. 
 
Analysis 
 
 Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.2 provides that when none of the statutory exceptions apply, 
“On petition of a party to an arbitration agreement alleging the existence of a written agreement 
to arbitrate a controversy and that a party to the agreement refuses to arbitrate that controversy, 
the court shall order the petitioner and the respondent to arbitrate the controversy if it 
determines that an agreement to arbitrate the controversy exists.”   
 

A. Agreement to Arbitrate Exists 
 

 “Public policy favors arbitration as an expedient and economical method of resolving 
disputes, thus relieving crowded civil courts. (County of Contra Costa v. Kaiser Foundation 
Health Plan, Inc. (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 237, 244.)  “‘Although California has a strong policy 
favoring arbitration [citations], our courts also recognize that the right to pursue claims in a 
judicial forum is a substantial right and one not lightly to be deemed waived. [Citations.] 
Because the parties to an arbitration clause surrender this substantial right, the general policy 
favoring arbitration cannot replace an agreement to arbitrate.’ [Citations.]”  (Benaroya v. Willis 
(2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 462, 468-469.)      
 
    “Because the existence of the agreement is a statutory prerequisite to granting the 
petition, the petitioner bears the burden of proving its existence by a preponderance of the 
evidence.” (Hotels Nevada v. L.A. Pacific Center, Inc. (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 754, 761.)  
General principles of contract law apply to determine if the parties entered into a binding 
agreement to arbitration.  (See Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Development 
(US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal. 4th 223, 236.)   
 
 Here, the arbitration provision is contained in the inspection agreement executed by 
Plaintiff on August 9, 2019 prior to inspection of the Subject Property by Mr. Paul Mezzetta.  The 
WIN inspection was performed on August 16, 2019.  Plaintiff admits to executing what he 
understood to be a binding agreement, although he declares he did not read the agreement 
carefully.  (Tsai Decl., ¶2.)  The copy of the agreement provided to Plaintiff by WIN Home did 
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not include a signature by anyone on behalf of WIN Home.  Plaintiff argues that both signatures 
are required for the arbitration agreement to be binding.  Plaintiff cites to Huckaba v. Ref-Chem, 
L.P. (5th Cir. 2018) 892 F.3d 686.)  In that Texas case, the court found the arbitration 
agreement contained express language indicating that the parties intended to be bound to the 
arbitration agreement only if the parties signed the agreement. 
 
 “In California, ‘[g]eneral principles of contract law determine whether the parties have 
entered a binding agreement to arbitrate.’ [Citations.]” (Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. 
Pinnacle Market Development (US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 236.  “Generally, an arbitration 
agreement must be memorialized in writing. [Citation.] A party's acceptance of an agreement to 
arbitrate may be express, as where a party signs the agreement. A signed agreement is not 
necessary, however, and a party's acceptance may be implied in fact…”  Furthermore, Civil 
Code § 3388 provides, “A party who has signed a written contract may be compelled specifically 
to perform it, though the other party has not signed it, if the latter has performed, or offers to 
perform it on his part, and the case is otherwise proper for enforcing specific performance.” 
 
 At any rate, Defendant submitted the supplemental declaration of Paul Mezzetta, owner 
and principal of WIN Home.  Mr. Mezzetta declares the electronic copy provided to Plaintiff did 
not contain his signature, but he located the hardcopy, attached to the work order, which 
contains his signature.  A copy is attached to his declaration. 
 
 Defendant has met its burden of proving the existence of an agreement to arbitrate by 
preponderance of the evidence.  
 

B.   Plaintiff has not Met the Burden of Establishing Waiver 
 
 Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.2, subdivision (a) allows the trial court to deny a 
petition to compel arbitration where “[t]he right to compel arbitration has been waived by the 
petitioner.” “The term ‘waiver’ as used in the statute is ‘a shorthand statement for the conclusion 
that a contractual right to arbitration has been lost.’”   (Fleming Distribution Co. v. Younan (2020) 
49 Cal.App.5th 73, 79.)   “‘A waiver of the right to arbitrate may properly be implied from any 
conduct which is inconsistent with the exercise of that right. [Citation.] Partial or piecemeal 
litigation of issues in dispute, through pretrial procedures, may in many instances justify a 
finding of waiver….’ [Citation.]”  ‘The trial court must … view the litigation as a whole and 
determine if the parties' conduct is inconsistent with a desire to arbitrate.’ [Citation.]” (Lewis v. 
Fletcher Jones Motor Cars, Inc. (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 436, 448-449.)  “Because the law favors 
arbitration, waiver will not be lightly inferred and the party asserting waiver ‘bears a heavy 
burden of proof,’ with any doubts to be resolved in favor of arbitration.  (Fleming Distribution Co. 
v. Younan (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 73, 80.) 
 
 Here, Plaintiff claims WIN Home has aggressively participated in the litigation.  It has 
answered the complaint, filed a cross-complaint and engaged in extensive discovery, including 
extensive written discovery to Dr. Tsai. While there is no "single test" in establishing waiver, a 
court can consider:  

 
(1) whether the party’s actions are inconsistent with the right to arbitrate; (2) 
whether ‘the litigation machinery has been substantially invoked’ and the parties 
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‘were well into preparation of a lawsuit’ before the party notified the opposing 
party of an intent to arbitrate; (3) whether a party either requested arbitration 
enforcement close to the trial date or delayed for a long period before seeking a 
stay; (4) whether a defendant seeking arbitration filed a counterclaim without 
asking for a stay of the proceedings; (5) ‘whether important intervening steps 
[e.g., taking advantage of judicial discovery procedures not available in 
arbitration] had taken place”; and (6) whether the delay ‘affected, misled, or 
prejudiced’ the opposing party.’  

 
(St. Agnes Medical Center v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187, 1196.) 
 
 Here, the complaint was filed on September 1, 2020.  Defendant made the demand for 
arbitration on or about November 13, 2020.  (Shem Decl., ¶4.)  There was not a significant delay 
is seeking the arbitration. Defendant has not brought any motions, but it filed a cross-complaint 
for indemnity on December 7, 2020, after the demand for arbitration. While WIN does not 
dispute participation in the litigation, it argues there has been no resulting prejudice to Plaintiff. 
“The moving party's mere participation in litigation is not enough; the party who seeks to 
establish waiver must show that some prejudice has resulted from the other party's delay in 
seeking arbitration.’ [Citation.]”  (Lewis v. Fletcher Jones Motor Cars, Inc. (2012) 205 
Cal.App.4th 436, 451.)   
 
 The Court agrees Plaintiff has not shown prejudice.  “Courts will not find prejudice where 
the party opposing arbitration shows only that it incurred court costs and legal expenses.” (St. 
Agnes Medical Center v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187, 1203.)  “[T]he critical 
factor in demonstrating prejudice is whether the party opposing arbitration has been 
substantially deprived of the advantages of arbitration as a ‘speedy and relatively inexpensive’ 
means of dispute resolution. [Citation.]”  (Lewis v. Fletcher Jones Motor Cars, Inc. (2012) 205 
Cal.App.4th 436, 452, internal quotation marks omitted.)  Here, there is no showing that Plaintiff 
has been deprived of the advantages of arbitration.  Plaintiff has not met his burden of showing 
waiver. 
 
 Finally, the Court is not convinced of Plaintiff’s argument of inconsistent rulings may 
result simply because he is litigating with other parties.  Plaintiff has not demonstrated the 
common issues of fact and law as to the claims against the other parties he is litigating against 
that may result in inconsistent rulings.   
 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01671 
CASE NAME: TSAI VS CAPITAL EQUITES MANAGE 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR COMPEL ARBITRATION FILED BY CAPITAL 
EQUITIES MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC.,, ANDREW KATAKIS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  Capital Equity Management Group, Inc. and Andrew Katakis’ Motion to Compel 
Arbitration is conditionally granted, provided Defendants produce documentation referenced 
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in the Reply, entitled “Representative Capacity Signature Disclosure.”  The Court’s records do 
not record of a Declaration by Michael Tims.  

Background 
 
 On or about August 2, 2019, Plaintiff Eric Tsai entered into an agreement with Defendant 
Capital Equities Management Group, Inc. to purchase a single-family residence located at 30 
Vernal Court in Alamo, California.  Capital Equities was the represented owner and seller of the 
Subject Property.  Defendant Andrew Katakis is an individual doing business through Capital 
Equities, whom Plaintiff alleges is the alter ego of Capital Equities.   
 
 Plaintiff alleges the residence is not safe and suitable for safe habitation.  Allegedly, 
there were massive amounts of water and moisture under the house.  The mold created by the 
moisture caused an extreme health hazard. Plaintiff filed this action for rescission, breach of 
contract, and fraud and misrepresentation. 
 
Motion 
 
 Defendants Capital Equities Management Group and Andrew Katakis bring this motion 
to compel arbitration on the ground the controversy involves an issue to be arbitrated pursuant 
to the written Residential Purchase Agreement for the purchase and sale of the real property 
located at 30 Vernal Court, Alamo.   
 
   Plaintiff opposes the motion on the ground Defendants are non-signatories to the 
agreement and have no standing to compel arbitration; Defendants have waived the right to 
arbitrate; there is the possibility of inconsistent results; and Defendants seek to compel both 
arbitrable and non-arbitrable issues. 
 
Analysis 
 
 The parties entered into the agreement on or about July 31, 2019.  Paragraph 22B of the 
Residential Purchase Agreement contains an arbitration provision. All parties initialed Paragraph 
22B, which states the parties agreed to arbitrate any dispute or claim arising out the agreement 
or any resulting transaction. On August 12, 2020, the parties participated in mediation of this 
matter, which was unsuccessful in reaching a settlement. 
 
  Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.2 provides that when none of the statutory exceptions apply, 
“On petition of a party to an arbitration agreement alleging the existence of a written agreement 
to arbitrate a controversy and that a party to the agreement refuses to arbitrate that controversy, 
the court shall order the petitioner and the respondent to arbitrate the controversy if it 
determines that an agreement to arbitrate the controversy exists.”   
 
 Here, Plaintiff argues that Defendants were not signatories to the agreement.  The 
Agreement was signed by Michael Tims.  Defendants represented in their papers that the 
parties executed a document acknowledging Mr. Tims’ representative capacity as an agent for 
Capital Equities.  Here, Defendant Capital Equities maintains Mr. Tims was its agent and 
authorized to bind Capital Equities in the Purchase Agreement.   
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 “A nonsignatory to an agreement to arbitrate may be required to arbitrate, and may 
invoke arbitration against a party, if a preexisting confidential relationship, such as an agency 
relationship between the nonsignatory and one of the parties to the arbitration agreement, 
makes it equitable to impose the duty to arbitrate upon the nonsignatory.” (Westra v. Marcus & 
Millichap Real Estate Investment Brokerage Co., Inc. (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 759, 765.)   “Every 
California case finding nonsignatories to be bound to arbitrate is based on facts that 
demonstrate, in one way or another, the signatory's implicit authority to act on behalf of the 
nonsignatory.” (Jensen v. U-Haul Co. of California (2017) 18 Cal.App.5th 295, 304.)  Provided 
Defendants submits proof of Mr. Tims’ representative capacity, Capital Equities has standing to 
compel arbitration. 
 
 Secondly, Plaintiff has not shown Defendants waived the right to compel arbitration.  
Plaintiff contends Defendants waived the right to compel arbitration by failing to assert it as an 
affirmative defense in the Answer.  “An agreement to arbitrate is an affirmative defense to 
claims asserted in a lawsuit. (Ross v. Blanchard (1967) 251 Cal.App.2d 739, 742.)  Generally, “a 
party who fails to plead affirmative defenses waives them.”  (California Academy of Sciences v. 
County of Fresno (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1436, 1442.) 
 
  Here, Defendants’ Answer contains as the Thirteenth Affirmative Defense the following 
language, “these answering Defendants incorporate by reference all other applicable defenses 
which will become available during discovery or trial.”  While the Court remains unconvinced 
that this language can be interpreted as pleading arbitration as an affirmative defense, the 
failure to allege such affirmative defense by itself is insufficient to constitute waiver.  “There is no 
single determinative test of waiver, and the question for the trial court is one of fact.” (Guess?, 
Inc. v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 553, 557.)  
   
  The court in Guess?, Inc. stated, “At a minimum, the failure to plead arbitration as an 
affirmative defense is an act inconsistent with the later assertion of a right to arbitrate.”  
(Guess?, Inc. v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 553, 558.) Even if Defendant did not 
plead arbitration as an affirmative defense, it is not determinative. “[N]o single test delineates 
the nature of the conduct that will constitute a waiver of arbitration.” (St. Agnes Medical Center 
v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187, 1195.)  “Waiver is not a mechanical process 
and no one factor is predominant.  (Fleming Distribution Co. v. Younan (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 
73, 80.) A wide range of factors are relevant and the Court must consider this factor along with 
the other factors:  
 

 (2) whether ‘the litigation machinery has been substantially invoked’ and 
the parties ‘were well into preparation of a lawsuit’ before the party notified the 
opposing party of an intent to arbitrate; (3) whether a party either requested 
arbitration enforcement close to the trial date or delayed for a long period before 
seeking a stay; (4) whether a defendant seeking arbitration filed a counterclaim 
without asking for a stay of the proceedings; (5) ‘whether important intervening 
steps [e.g., taking advantage of judicial discovery procedures not available in 
arbitration] had taken place”; and (6) whether the delay ‘affected, misled, or 
prejudiced’ the opposing party.’  
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(St. Agnes Medical Center v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187, 1196.) 
 
 Here, Plaintiff presented no evidence Defendants “substantially invoked the litigation 
machinery.”  Before suit was filed, the parties participated in mediation and Defendant indicates 
it expected arbitration to follow. Instead, Plaintiff filed this action.  Defendant Capital Equities 
filed an Answer on November 2, 2020.  This motion was filed on January 8, 2021. There is no 
indication by Plaintiff that the brief delay “affected, misled, or prejudiced” Plaintiff.  Plaintiff has 
not shown Defendants engaged in extensive discovery or otherwise took advantage of judicial 
proceedings. Courts look at the party's actions, as a whole, in determining whether its conduct is 
inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate. (See Lewis v. Fletcher Jones Motor Cars, Inc. (2012) 205 
Cal.App.4th 436, 446.)   “‘[W]aivers are not to be lightly inferred and the party seeking to 
establish a waiver bears a heavy burden of proof.’ [Citation]” (Wagner Construction Co. v. 
Pacific Mechanical Corp. (2007) 41 Cal.4th 19, 31.)  Plaintiff has not met its burden of showing 
Defendants waived the right to arbitrate. 
 
 Next, Plaintiff’s argument that the petition for arbitration should be denied because there 
is a significant possibility of conflicting results is less meritorious.  Plaintiff himself has argued 
that each defendant had separate and distinct roles, involving different conduct.  Plaintiff has not 
demonstrated that common issues of fact and law exist between the various cross-complaints 
and may result in inconsistent rulings. 
 
 Finally, as to Plaintiff’s argument that there are overlapping non-arbitrable issues, 
section 1281.2, subdivision (c) gives the Court several options, including denying the petition for 
arbitration, staying the arbitration pending disposition of nonarbitrable claims in the court, or 
staying the litigation pending completion of the arbitration. (See Rodriguez v. American 
Technologies, Inc. (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 1110, 1114–1115.)  Plaintiff has not clearly identified 
the non-arbitrable issues and the Court declines deny the petition on this basis or to stay the 
action. 
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02087 
CASE NAME: MARION TRENTMAN-MORELLI VS CAR 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of TRENTMAN-MORELLI 
FILED BY CARLO PANETTA, FARRAH PANETTA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendant Carlo Panetta’s demurrer to the First Amended Complaint is overruled as to 

cause of action one, two, three and five and sustained with leave to amend as to the 

remaining causes of action. Defendant Farrah Panetta’s demurrer to the First Amended 

Complaint is overruled as to cause of action one and otherwise sustained with leave to 

amend. Plaintiff shall file and serve her amended complaint by April 1, 2021.  

Plaintiff Marion Trentman-Morelli, individually and as trustee of the Morelli-Trentman 

Living Trust, have sued her neighbors Carlo and Farrah Panetta for (1) nuisance, (2) trespass, 

(3) injury to real property, (4) assault, (5) intentional infliction of emotional distress (6) elder 

abuse, (7) waste, and (8) declaratory relief. (The first page of the FAC lists IIED as the fourth 
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cause of action and assault as the fifth cause of action, however, these references are incorrect 

as the assault claim is before the IIED claim.)   

The FAC alleges that Carlo Panetta started using a baseball pitching machine in 

February 2019 and that baseballs come into Plaintiff’s yard on an almost daily basis. (FAC ¶9.) 

Over 150 balls have been hit into Plaintiff’s yard. (FAC ¶10.) Plaintiff alleges that Carlo 

intentionally aims the balls at a fence shared between the parties’ properties and that the 

baseballs hit the boards on the fence, making a gunshot sound and often splitting the boards. 

(FAC ¶11.) Plaintiff alleges that she and other neighbors complained to the police and to Carlo 

about the use of the machine, but Carlo continues to use the machine. (FAC ¶¶12-13.)  

The FAC alleges that on March 2020, Defendants’ boat was towed for non-payment of 

tickets. After this happened, Carlo kicked down 30 feet of fence shared between the properties. 

He then ran a pressure washer until it ran out of gas. Carlo flew a drone over Plaintiff’s yard, 

making noise for several hours. The next day, Carlo set up speakers on the property line and 

played Trump rallies at full volume all day long. (FAC ¶14.)  

Plaintiff alleges a number of other actions by Carlo, which occurred mostly after March 

2020: (a) loud music accompanied by screaming monologues where Carlo calls Plaintiff out by 

name, using obscene language and threatens Plaintiff; (b) dumping green waste at Plaintiff’s 

property’s front gate; (b) Carlo drilled holes into the shared fence while chanting “drilling 

beautiful peep holes”;(d) using a gun to shoot rubber golf balls into Plaintiff’s yard and swimming 

pool; (e) Carlo throws trash, dog feces, fish parts and other objects onto Plaintiff’s driveway, 

back yard and/or pool on an almost daily basis; (f) Carlo dumps trash and other objects on a 

wall between the two properties or leaves items on the wall, which have attracted rats; (i) Carlo 

damaged Plaintiff’s bamboo hedge and sprinkler when moving his boat and damaged their 

shared fence on at least six different occasions; (k) Carlo has damaged the fence on both sides 

of his property; (l) Carlo installed lights pointing at Plaintiff’s bedroom window, which makes it 

difficult for Plaintiff to sleep in that room; (m) Carlo parks his truck (on the public street) so it 

slightly blocks Plaintiff’s driveway and/or her mailbox; (n) Carlo rips up parking tickets and 

scatters them on Plaintiff’s driveway or puts them in her mailbox; (o) Carlo interferes with pickup 

of Plaintiff’s trash by moving her trash bins or placing unpermitted items on top of the bins; (p) 

Carlo remove shrubbery located on Plaintiff’s property without her permission. (FAC ¶15(a) – 

(p).)  Plaintiff hired workers to build a barrier wall after Carlo damaged Plaintiff’s hedge. Carlo 

interfered with this work by parking or driving his truck on work area, damaging the work already 

done, and by parking his truck close to the work area, making work more difficult. (FAC ¶16.) 

Carlo told Plaintiff and her husband to “Go fuck yourself” and told Plaintiff “I’m going to live here 

forever, and I intend to WATCH YOU DIE!” (FAC ¶21. ) The FAC alleges that on August 27, 

2020 Carlo plays music to himself at top volume and hit baseballs for a half hour. While 

somewhat unclear, it appears that Plaintiff alleges that similar conduct occurs almost daily. (FAC 

¶20.)  In October 2020, Carlo broke the irrigation emitter head in one of Plaintiff’s planter boxes. 

(FAC ¶23.)  
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The FAC alleges that Defendants were served with a 60 day notice of terminate their 

lease in September 2020 and since then the conduct by Defendants have continued. From 

September to November 2020, Plaintiff has identified over 30 items that have gone into 

Plaintiff’s property or left on the share wall. (FAC ¶27.)  

Defendants have demurred to each cause of action based on the failure to alleged facts 

to state a cause of action.  

Allegations Against Farrah 

Defendants first argue that Plaintiff has not alleged any claim against Farrah Panetta.  

Plaintiff alleges that Carlo’s wife, Farrah Panetta, stood by and remained silent while 

Carlo was engaging in much of the actions alleged in the FAC and thus has ratified his conduct. 

(FAC ¶15, 24-25.) Plaintiff also alleges that Farrah allows these things to happen because she 

does not remove the trash and other items from the share wall. (FAC ¶15.)  

The FAC also alleges that the “Defendants” have destroyed the fence on both sides of 

their house using the pitching machine and that the “Defendants” damaged Plaintiff’s hedge and 

sprinkler when “he” was moving his boat  (FAC ¶15(i),(h).) But the allegations in the FAC show 

that this conduct was committed by Carlo, not Farrah.  

There is one allegation of affirmative conduct by Farrah: the FAC alleges that “one or 

both of them” (meaning Carlo and Farrah) replace trash or other items on the wall if Plaintiff 

removes them. (FAC ¶15 (f).)  

Plaintiff argues that Farrah lied to the police to protect Carlo. These allegations are not 

part of the present complaint and will not be considered by this Court.  

Giving the FAC all reasonable inferences, the allegations against Farrah are that she did 

not prevent her husband’s conduct, did not agree with Plaintiff’s description of what Carlo had 

done and placed some items on the shared wall. While placing items on the shared wall might 

form the basis of a cause of action, these allegations alone are insufficient to state a claim 

against Farrah. Thus, for most of the claims, Plaintiff has not alleged facts that would support a 

claim against Farrah based on her conduct.  

Plaintiff argues that Farrah is liable for Carlo’s conduct based on an agency relationship. 

Plaintiff argues that ratification is sufficient, which is true in the context of a corporations 

ratification of the acts of its agent.  (Hartman v. Shell Oil Co. (1977) 68 Cal.App.3d 240, 248.) Of 

course, ratification is just one of the required elements. There must also be an agency 

relationship, which is the main issue here.  

Plaintiff relies on the allegations that Farrah and Carlo are married to argue that they 

must be agents of each other. Such allegations, without more, are insufficient to show agency. 

“In the case of dealings which involve a husband and wife, it is well established that an agency 
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cannot be implied from the marriage relation alone. [Citations.]  However, it is also true that 

much less evidence is required to establish a principal and agent relationship between husband 

and wife than between nonspouses. [Citations.]” (Lovetro v. Steers (1965) 234 Cal.App.2d 461, 

475.)  

The FAC does not allege that Carlo was Farrah’s agent and thus Farrah can be liable for 

Carlo’s conduct under an agency theory.  

Therefore, the demurrer by Farrah is sustained with leave to amend the demurrer as to 

causes of action two through six.  

Nuisance (C/A 1) 

A private nuisance claim is a claim for “a nontrespassory interference with the private 

use and enjoyment of land.” (San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. Superior Court (1996) 13 Cal.4th 

893, 937 (Covalt).) The plaintiff must prove (1) an “interference with the plaintiff's use and 

enjoyment of that property”; (2) “that the invasion of the plaintiff's interest in the use and 

enjoyment of the land was substantial, i.e., that it caused the plaintiff to suffer ‘substantial actual 

damage.’ [Citations.]” and (3) “‘[t]he interference with the protected interest must not only be 

substantial, but it must also be unreasonable’ [citation], i.e., it must be ‘of such a nature, 

duration or amount as to constitute unreasonable interference with the use and enjoyment of the 

land.’ ”. (Id. at 937-939.)  

Elements two and three are judged by an objective standard. “Thus, with respect to the 

substantial damage element, the degree of harm is to be measured by the “effect … the 

invasion [would] have on persons of normal health and sensibilities living in the same 

community.” (Id. at 938.) With respect to the unreasonableness element, “[t]he primary test for 

determining whether the invasion is unreasonable is whether the gravity of the harm outweighs 

the social utility of the defendant's conduct, taking a number of factors into account. [Citation.]” 

(Id. at 938–939.) 

“ ‘[P]laintiffs have successfully maintained nuisance actions against airports for 

interferences caused by noise, smoke and vibrations from flights over their homes … and 

against a sewage treatment plant for interference caused by noxious odors … .’ [Citation]” 

(Monks v. City of Rancho Palos Verdes (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 263, 302; see also Mendez v. 

Rancho Valencia Resort Partners, LLC (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 248, 264 [noting that noise can 

constitute a nuisance].)  

In Schild v. Rubin (1991) 232 Cal.App.3d 755 the court found that a neighbor playing 

basketball was not a private nuisance. There basketball was played for 5 to 30 minutes several 

times per week sometime between 9 a.m. and 8 p.m. (Id. at 758-759.) There were also 

complaints about loud rock music coming from the defendant’s home on several different 

occasions. (Id. at 759.) There was evidence that the basketball noise could be substantially 

reduced by closing the windows and further reduced by installing different windows. (Id. at 760-



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   21 
HEARING DATE:   03/17/21 

 
 

- 18 - 

761.) The court found that based upon this evidence, presented during a permanent injunction 

hearing, there was no nuisance. (Id. at 765.)  

Here Plaintiff alleges that baseballs are regularly hit against a fence making a gunshot 

sound and that loud music is regularly played. Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant points lights 

at Plaintiff’s bedroom. These allegations are sufficient to allege a claim for nuisance. Whether 

the evidence will ultimately result in a finding of nuisance is a factual issue that will be decided 

at a later stage in this case.  

Private nuisance can be brought against an individual with possession of the land that 

fails to abate a nuisance. (CACI no. 2023; Leslie Salt Co. v. San Francisco Bay Conservation 

etc. Com. (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 605, 619-622.) Here, Plaintiff has alleged that a nuisance 

exists based on Carlo’s conduct. Farrah is alleged to be a tenant and thus, Farrah has 

possession of the house. Therefore, Plaintiff has alleged a claim for nuisance against Farrah 

based on her failure to abate the nuisance.  

The demurrer to the nuisance claim is overruled as to both defendants. 

Trespass (C/A 2) 

Defendants argue that the trespass claim fails because some of the alleged activity took 

place on Defendants’ property or the public street. Defendants fail to address the allegations 

that Carlo went onto Plaintiff’s property, which is a trespass. Defendants also fail to address the 

allegations that Carlo threw trash and other onto Plaintiff’s property, which is also a trespass. 

(See, e.g. Roberts v. Permanente Corp. (1961) 188 Cal.App.2d 526, 530-531; CACI no. 2004; 

Restatement of the Law, Torts § 158, comment h [“it is an actionable trespass to throw rubbish 

on another's land”].)  

The demurrer is overruled as to Carlo.  

Injury to Real Property (C/A 3) 

Defendants argue that a claim for injury to real property requires a permanent injury to 

Plaintiff’s property, which Defendants argue has not been alleged. Defendant relies on CAMSI 

IV v. Hunter Technology Corp. (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 1525, which explained when the statute 

of limitations accrued on injuries to real property: “the orthodox rule would dictate that ‘if the 

defendant's act causes immediate and permanent injury’ to the property the statute would run 

from the date of the act. [Citation.] If the defendant has caused injury by a series of acts, the 

orthodox rule suggests an action could be brought within the limitation period running from the 

last act. [Citation.]” (Id. at 1534.)  

CAMSI IV was addressing when the statute of limitations on a claim with injury to real 

property accrues and does not specify what the elements to a claim for injury to real property 

are. It appears that often a claim for injury to real property is really a claim for trespass or 
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nuisance and the resulting damage includes injury to real property. (See, e.g. Kornoff v. 

Kingsburg Cotton Oil Co. (1955) 45 Cal.2d 265, 275.) That being said, Defendants’ only 

challenge to this cause of action is that there was no permanent injury to Plaintiff’s property. 

Plaintiff alleged that Carlo damaged Plaintiff’s hedge, which would constitute a permanent injury 

to the property. On the ground raised by Defendants, the demurrer is overruled as to Carlo.  

Assault (C/A 4) 

Defendants argue that the assault claim fails because the allegations do not show that 

Carlo acted with intent to cause harmful or offensive contact, or threatened to touch Plaintiff in a 

harmful way.  

“The essential elements of a cause of action for assault are: (1) defendant acted with 

intent to cause harmful or offensive contact, or threatened to touch plaintiff in a harmful or 

offensive manner; (2) plaintiff reasonably believed she was about to be touched in a harmful or 

offensive manner or it reasonably appeared to plaintiff that defendant was about to carry out the 

threat; (3) plaintiff did not consent to defendant's conduct; (4) plaintiff was harmed; and (5) 

defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing plaintiff's harm. [Citations.]” (So v. Shin 

(2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 652, 668-669; CACI no. 1301.)  

The FAC does not allege that plaintiff reasonably believed she was about to be touched 

in a harmful or offensive manner. While there are allegations that baseball and other items often 

go onto Plaintiff’s property, there are no allegations that Carlo directs these items towards 

Plaintiff as opposed to Plaintiff’s yard. Thus, the facts as currently alleged do no show an 

assault based on the objects being throw or hit at Plaintiff.  

While the FAC alleges that Carlo made some statements to Plaintiff no statements have 

been alleged that would constitute an assault claim.  

The demurrer to the assault claim is sustained with leave to amend at to Carlo. 

IIED (C/A 5)  

A claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress requires “(1) extreme and 

outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention of causing, or reckless disregard of the 

probability of causing, emotional distress; (2) the plaintiff suffered severe or extreme emotional 

distress; and (3) the plaintiff's injuries were actually and proximately caused by the defendant's 

outrageous conduct. [Citation].” (Cochran v. Cochran (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 488, 494.) “[T]he 

alleged conduct ‘ “. . . must be so extreme as to exceed all bounds of that usually tolerated in a 

civilized community.' [Citation.] Generally, conduct will be found to be actionable where the 

'recitation of the facts to an average member of the community would arouse his resentment 

against the actor, and lead him to exclaim, ‘Outrageous!’ ” ’ [Citations.]” (Cochran v. Cochran 

(1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 488, 494.)  
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Defendants argue that the facts alleged here to not meet the level of outrageous 

conduct. The Court disagrees. All the facts alleged in the FAC when taken together are 

sufficient to show outrageous conduct.  

The demurrer to the IIED claim is overruled as to Carlo.  

Elder Abuse (C/A 6) 

Defendants argue that the elder abuse claim fails because the FAC does not allege elder 

abuse. Elder abuse includes the following conduct related to the treatment of a person 65 years 

or older: (1) “[p]hysical abuse, neglect, abandonment, isolation, abduction, or other treatment 

with resulting physical harm or pain or mental suffering”; (2) “deprivation by a care custodian of 

goods or services that are necessary to avoid physical harm or mental suffering” and (3) 

financial abuse. (Wel & Inst Code § 15610.07(a).)  

Plaintiff argues that she has a claim for elder abuse based on physical abuse and 

isolation. (Plaintiff notes in her opposition that her husband also has standing to bring an elder 

abuse claim, but since the husband is not a plaintiff in this case that issue is irrelevant.)  

 “Physical abuse” is defined to include assault. (Wel & Inst Code § 15610.63(a).) Since 

Plaintiff has not yet alleged a claim for assault, Plaintiff has not yet alleged a claim for elder 

abuse based on physical abuse.  

“Isolation” includes the following “(1) Acts intentionally committed for the purpose of 

preventing, and that do serve to prevent, an elder or dependent adult from receiving his or her 

mail or telephone calls”; (2) telling a caller or prospective visitor that an elder or dependent adult 

is not present; (3) “false imprisonment, as defined in Section 236 of the Penal Code” and (4) 

physical restraint of an elder.  (Wel. & Inst Code § 15610.43(a).)  

Plaintiff argues that that the allegations in the FAC are sufficient to show isolation under 

(1), (3) and (4). The court disagrees. The closest the allegations come are that Carlo parks his 

truck in front of Plaintiff’s mailbox. The allegations do not explain how this prevents Plaintiff from 

receiving her mail. In addition, Plaintiff alleges that when Carlo’s truck blocks her mailbox, the 

postal carrier leaves her mail on Plaintiff’s porch. (FAC ¶15(m).) Thus, Plaintiff has not alleged 

that Carlo has prevented her from getting her mail. The Court is skeptical about whether a 

neighbor’s vehicle blocking a mailbox could form the basis of an elder abuse claim based on 

isolation; that issue can be briefed by the parties in the future. Finally, the allegations do not 

support a finding of false imprisonment or physical restraint of an elder.  

The demurrer to the elder abuse claim is sustained with leave to amend.  

Waste (C/A 7) 
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Defendants argue that as Plaintiff’s neighbors, Plaintiff has no claim for waste against 

them. 

“ ‘ “[W]aste is conduct (including in this word both acts of commission and of omission) 

on the part of the person in possession of land which is actionable at the behest of, and for 

protection of the reasonable expectations of, another owner of an interest in the same land. … 

Thus, waste is, functionally, a part of the law which keeps in balance the conflicting desires of 

persons having interests in the same land.” [Citation.]’ [Citation.]… ‘In order to state a cause of 

action for waste, a plaintiff must plead and prove that the defendant was under a duty to 

preserve and protect the property involved.’ [Citation.]” (Avalon Pacific—Santa Ana, L.P. v. HD 

Supply Repair & Remodel, LLC (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1183, 1211-1212; see also, Code of 

Civil Procedure section 732 [provides a statutory basis for a waste claim].)  

Thus, without more, one neighbor cannot sue another for waste.  

Plaintiff relies on Smith v. Cap Concrete, Inc. (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 769, where the 

court found that a claim for waste was permissible against a party that dumped broken concrete 

material on the plaintiff’s property. The concrete was delivered to the property at the request of 

the lessee. The court noted that “[w]aste will be found only when the market value of property is 

permanently diminished or depreciated.” (Id. at 777.) The situation here is not like the one in 

Smith.  

The demurrer to this claim is sustained as to both defendants. Plaintiff is given leave to 

amend out of an abundance of caution as this is the first demurrer to this claim.   

Declaratory Relief (C/A 8)  

Defendants demur to the declaratory relief claim arguing that Plaintiff has not alleged a 

claim for declaratory relief. A claim for declaratory relief requires an actual controversy involving 

justiciable questions relating to the parties’ rights or obligations. “ ‘The “actual controversy” 

language in Code of Civil Procedure section 1060 encompasses a probable future controversy 

relating to the legal rights and duties of the parties. [Citation.]’ [Citations]” (Wilson & Wilson v. 

City Council of Redwood City (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1559, 1582.)  

The FAC alleges a very general request for declaratory relief that is based on a theory 

that there is a dispute about Plaintiff’s damages and injuries related to the facts alleged in this 

lawsuit. This is not a proper claim for declaratory relief as it does not state a future controversy, 

but relates to past conduct. In addition, the declaratory relief claim appears to be entirely 

duplicative of other claims in the FAC. The demurrer for the declaratory relief claim is sustained 

with leave to amend as to both defendants.  

Judicial Notice 
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Plaintiff’s requests for judicial notice are denied. If Plaintiff believes facts in the police 

report should be included in her complaint she may add them to her second amended complaint 

The restraining order from 2006 is unrelated to the facts alleged in the complaint. The Court 

takes no position on whether the restraining order might be admissible at some point in this 

proceeding.  

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-02307 
CASE NAME: MCNEAL VS LIBERTY MUTUAL GROUP 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of MCNEAL FILED BY LIBERTY 
MUTUAL GROUP, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Taken off calendar. First Amended Complaint was filed.  

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-1358 
CASE NAME: VALENCIA VS. BOARD OF REGISTER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCE UNCONTESTED COSTS FILED BY 
JANET ANNE BAENA VALENCIA RN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Petitioner’s motion to enforce costs is granted.  
 
Petitioner filed and served its memorandum of costs in the amount of $2,322 on October 30, 
2019. When Respondent failed to challenge the prejudgment costs, the costs were 
automatically incorporated into the judgment.  See CRC 3.1700(b)(4); Lucky United Properties 
Inv., Inc. v. Lee (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 125, 137. Interest then began to accrue on the costs as 
of the date of the judgment. Lucky at 137-138. Respondent failed to pay the costs and this 
motion ensued.  
 
Respondent’s belated payment of the costs on March 1st does not address the accrued interest 
from October 23, 2019 at the rate of 10% or $0.64 per day, or the $80 in motion fees. See CCP 
685.010(a), 685.020(a). Accordingly, Respondent owes Petitioner an additional sum of $390.45.  
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15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-1927 
CASE NAME: JUNGHERR VS CALIFORNIA LEAGUE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR WRIT FILED BY ANTON JUNGHERR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s “Motion for Writ” is denied, again, for plaintiff’s failure to serve the underlying writ 
petition. As previously explained, the writ must be served in the same manner as a summons in 
a civil action. CCP 1096. “Service upon a majority of the members of any board or body, is 
service upon the board or body.” Id. The fact that a single member of the board filed an 
improper “rebuttal,” which was stricken at plaintiff’s request, does not mean that service was 
ever properly achieved. 
 

 


